1980

Lisa Watters v. Clayton N. Querry, Jean C. Querry,
Charles L. Querry, Elizabeth Hemingway, and
David E. Hemingway : Appellant'S Brief

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Personal injuries were suffered by appellant who was driver of the middle car of a three car "chain" automobile accident.

DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

Jury trial resulted in verdict finding driver of front car of chain, defendant-respondent, Elizabeth Hemingway, negligent, but with such negligence not found to be proximate cause; found plaintiff-appellant neither negligent nor at fault; found driver of third car, defendant Clayton Querry, 100% at fault. Awarded verdict of \$115,000.00 general damages and \$38,000.00 special damages.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Defendants Querry settled prior to trial, were not represented by counsel at trial, and are not believed to be parties to this appeal.

Appellant seeks finding that Hemingway's negligence was a proximate cause of the accident as a matter of law, and remand for trial solely on apportionment of fault between Hemingway and Querry, or as secondary alternative, that issues of liability be remanded for trial, or as last alternative, for new trial.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The accident occurred at 10:00 P.M., February 26, 1976, at 2910 South 7th East, Salt Lake County, Utah, a public highway. Although it was a winter night, the weather was clear, visibility good and the road dry.

All vehicles were driving north, with the Hemingway vehicle making a "U" turn from north to west, then south.

No alcohol was involved.

Plaintiff-appellant is Lisa Watters. She was 36 years of age. She was driving a 1974 Mercury Cougar from her home at 6734 South 1560 East, enroute to the Holy Cross Hospital, where she was due to start night shift work at 10:30 P.M. as a respiratory therapist.

Defendant-respondent Elizabeth Hemingway was driving a 1968 Chevrolet Impala. She was 17 years of age. Defendant-respondent David E. Hemingway is her father. He is a party to the lawsuit only because of his statutory liability due to his being signatory on her driver's license. In this brief, reference to "Hemingway" shall be to Elizabeth Hemingway. She had just dropped off Mike Stewart, who was a friend of her brother, David, at his home on Elgin Avenue east of 7th East. Elgin Avenue is at 3000 South. As remaining passengers, she had her brother, David Ernest Hemingway, and his friend, Randall Rigdon. All were students at Granite High School, with Miss Hemingway being the oldest and the only one with a driver's license.

Miss Hemingway resided at 436 East 4335 South. She intended to go south on 7th East from Elgin Avenue in order to drop off Randall Rigdon who resided southwest from there.

Defendant Clayton N. Querry was driver of the third car. He was 16 at the time of the accident. Jean C. Querry, his mother, is not a party to the action although named in the pleadings, because it was first thought that she was signatory to his driver's license. She has since been released from the case. Defendant Charles L. Querry, Clayton's father, was signatory to his license and so is a party due to his statutory liability as such signatory. All reference herein to "Querry" will be to Clayton Querry. Clayton had been to an L.D.S. Ward basketball game and was on his way home. He was accompanied by a friend, Scott Federson. Clayton resided at 2773 Adams Street. He was using 7th East to get to 27th South where he intended to make a left turn to the west. Clayton did not testify at the second trial, being on an L.D.S. Mission, so his testimony from the first trial was read into the record.

The issue is as to proximate cause of Hemingway. In view of Miss Hemingway's favorable jury verdict, she is entitled to favorable factual interpretation. Accordingly, most facts stated will be from testimony of her and her passengers. Even so, appellant claims that the facts are such that the jury was led into error by errors in law of the trial court and will submit facts supporting this claim of Hemingway's fault.

To ask the court to set aside a jury verdict and the trial court's denial of an NOV motion on the basis that the facts are adequate to show fault as a matter of law requires a detailed exposition of the facts.

The case was tried and appealed once before, reported in 588 P2d 702. In that opinion, most of the essential facts were synthesized as follows:

"At about 10:00 P.M. on February 26, 1976, defendant Elizabeth Hemingway turned her car north onto 7th East Street from Elgin Avenue (about 2950 South in Salt Lake City). She accelerated to the speed of traffic flow (about 50 m.p.h.) while she was moving to her left from the extreme outside (easterly) lane to the inside (against the highway divider) lane. After thus proceeding northward about 600 feet to a break in the divider, she made a sudden stop to await an opportunity to make a left turn. Plaintiff Watters, immediately following Hemingway, managed to stop without contact. But the next following car, whose driver, defendant Clayton Querry, was admittedly inattentive, ran into the back of plaintiff Watters' car resulting in injury to plaintiff and damage to her car.

"The difficulty with the instruction about which plaintiff complains is that, as applied to the instant situation, it would seem to exculpate defendant Hemingway (who created a dangerous situation) if it is found that the defendant Querry (the later actor) was negligent, whether or not the latter's conduct was foreseeable. If the principle of law just discussed is properly applied to the evidence in this case, it appears to us that there is a legitimate question as to whether a jury could reasonably find that defendant Hemingway, in making the alleged abrupt stop, should have foreseen that, in traffic such as there was on that highway, some momentarily inattentive driver following her would not be able to react and brake quick enough to avoid collision with her car or the car behind hers. The instructions should have presented that problem to the jury as contended by the plaintiff."

It should be noted that the dissent was based on a misapprehension of fact. That is, it is based on Miss Hemingway entering the roadway going slower than Watters and continuing to move slowly until she stopped for the turn. Actually, Miss Hemingway accelerated, which led following traffic to think she was moving into traffic flow. Miss Hemingway spoke for herself on the point as follows:

"As I pulled on into lane 2 [next to inside lane], I was probably going from 30-35 and 35 as I changed lanes into lane one and proceed there at 35 until I braked, and I don't know how much I slowed down with that braking motion, but I did accelerate up to no more than 35 m.p.h. and then I proceed to slow back down again as I saw this car approach and pass that break in the island as I turned." [Emphasis added] (Tr. P202, L6-13)

Miss Hemingway's brother, David, agreed testifying that in his opinion she reached a speed of 40 m.p.h. between the two times she braked. (Tr. P265, L1-8)

"Q. In your testimony today, your testimony is that she got up and accelerated, driving down the island to about 40 m.p.h.

A. Yes.

Q. She accelerated promptly, didn't she, when she got into that high speed lane? She moved right up close to the traffic, didn't she?

A. Yes.

Q. ... But when she started to slow down she was about 100 feet from the end of the island?

A. From the break in the island, yes.

Q. And going about 40 at the time?

A. Uh-huh." (David Hemingway's testimony, Tr. P268, L28-P269, L11)

The distances involved were 2,080 feet from Elgin Avenue south to 33rd South, and 360 feet more from Elgin Avenue north to the break in the traffic divider where the accident occurred.

Assuming conservatively that Miss Hemingway had an average speed of 25 m.p.h. from her entry onto 7th East until her stop, she would have traveled the distance in 10 seconds.

As to whether approaching northbound traffic would be obstructed by her stopping, she denied this saying that she looked south from Elgin Avenue, saw traffic at 33rd South, saw the light turn green for the traffic to start, with no traffic in between and so knew that she had plenty of time. (Tr. P201, L3-10; P224, L10-P225, L8) She denied coming to a complete stop, which would have added to her time, before she made the turn. For traffic to have reached her from 33rd South in the same 10 seconds covering 2,440 feet, it would have had to have been traveling at 160 m.p.h.

This tends to confirm her alternate version of the facts in which she admitted that she usually went south about 100 feet to a break in the island, but this time turned north because oncoming traffic was close enough that one of the boys in the car asked her not to go south. (Tr. P211, L4-P213, L14)

When Miss Hemingway moved into the inside lane with traffic close enough to keep her from making the jog to the south as was her custom, she testified the jog took only 3 to

5 seconds. (Tr. P213, L6-14) When she moved from lane two to lane one, she glanced back, saw approaching traffic in her rear-view mirror, but made no estimate of its distance from her. (Tr. P202, L14-29; P227, L1-16)

What did Miss Hemingway do then after she entered the high speed inside lane? She has given two versions. In her most recent version, she traveled slowly looking for the end of the island. (Tr. P203, L2-14)

In her first two versions, at deposition and first trial, as quoted above, rather than going slowly, she accelerated until she got to the island and then slowed abruptly. The former testimony was summarized at trial as follows:

"Q. Do you have an estimate as to how fast you were traveling when you made the lane change?

A. I said 40, but I have gone 40 on the road before and I know now that there wouldn't be any way I could be able to stop if I was going 40. So I am going to say now about 30 to 35.

Q. ... You didn't know where the break in the island was, did you?

A. No, sir." (Tr. P216, L17-29)

During the entire time when traveling in the inside lane and stopping, Miss Hemingway made no effort to check to see how close following traffic was to her (Tr. P227, L1-6), notwithstanding that she knew it was too close for her to have cut south when ~~entering~~ seventh east, and would have to have come closer to her while she accelerated entering the roadway.

When did she next look? After she heard the impact.
(Tr. P217, L9-10; P227, L1-6) Whether she stopped prior to making her turn or not is again a subject on which she gave differing testimony, a major factor on the degree to which she obstructed traffic. As indicated above, in her deposition, she clearly remembered the fact of her stopping, using her recollection that she did in fact stop to arrive at her estimate as to her maximum speed while in lane one. At trial, however, she testified twice that she slowed down, timed the car going south, and swung "very smooth" through her U-turn after it passed without her needing to slow below 5 to 10 m.p.h. and not stopping at all. (Tr. P203, L27-P204, L12; P208, L26-P209, L3) Despite this precise detail, she gave, she admitted on cross-examination that she didn't know whether that fact situation ever happened at all, admitting that she might very well have come to a complete stop for southbound traffic to approach, (Tr. P223, L26-P224, L9) in which case her testimony as to her slow, smooth timed turn would have to be imagination. Either way, she testified that she could have stopped being an obstruction simply by continuing or starting north again, rather than insisting on remaining in position to turn. (Tr. P227, L12-P228, L22)

The look Miss Hemingway made was when she heard the collision. This is when she had just commenced her turn, she stating, "As I rounded the corner, I heard the crash." (Tr. P217, L9-10; P227, L1-6)

Again, there is conflict in her testimony in a vital area-- her awareness at the time of being in the right or in the wrong.

At the second trial, Miss Hemingway testified that she felt she had done nothing wrong and didn't know that her turn was illegal. (Tr. P205, L19-26; P208, L9-16-P209, L11-12)

This was in conflict with her previous testimony in her deposition. (Refusal of admission of this testimony was a primary point in the first appeal, and the evidence was received at the second trial.) She admitted that immediately on getting home on the night of the accident, she went to the home of an older friend to talk to her about the accident and at that time said, "And I just told her that I felt really bad because I felt that I was the cause of an accident." (Tr. P220, L1-20)

Miss Hemingway also testified that at the time the accident occurred, she knew the turn was illegal. (Tr. P220, L21-P221, L1) Her own passenger, Randy Rigdon testified that immediately after the accident there was talk between the three people in the Hemingway car, and that she felt badly because she had caused an accident making an illegal turn. It was Rigdon's opinion that Miss Hemingway had caused the accident. In fact, the next day, through pure happenstance, the small world department, he mentioned to a friend of his, Clayton Querry, that he had been in a car that had caused an accident the night before, to find to his amazement that Clayton was the driver of one of the cars involved in that accident. (Tr. P81, L2-23; P82, L30-P84, L11)

"Q. ...'You know Clayton Querry a little, don't you?'

A. 'Yes.'

Q. 'All right. Do you remember mentioning to him one morning in February the night before you had been in a car that had caused an accident and it turned out to be a small world because he was in the car that did the hitting?'

A. 'Oh yes, I think so.'

Q. 'Do you recall if Liz Hemingway had her left-turn signal on when she was stopped at the end of the island.'

A. I don't." (Tr. P81, L18-27)

Other than that chance comment, Miss Hemingway might never have been found as she left the accident scene without identifying herself.

"Q. Did anybody say anything between you and Liz and her brother about having caused the accident by having been stopped?

A. I think we talked about it, yes.

Q. Now tell as well as you can recall what this talk was.

A. Well, we was just kind of like talking back and forth to each other. I think one of us mentioned that--I don't know if the law--you can't make a turn in that kind of a dip.

Q. You can't make a U-turn?

A. Where there ain't no--

Q. Storage lane?

A. Yes.

Q. Do you know who it was who said that?

A. One of us did, maybe it was me.

Q. Did Liz say anything to indicate that she felt bad about the accident?

A. Yes." (Tr. P83, L21-P84, L11)

Rigdon also confirmed Miss Hemingway and Mrs. Watters that the impact between Watters and Query happened just as Miss Hemingway's turn was starting. (Tr. P80, L4-22)

On that point, Watters had testified that as she was stopping, she saw the lights of the Query car closing behind her and knew she was "in for it," but she felt trapped not being able to change lanes due to other traffic. She tried to accelerate forward the instant that Hemingway commenced her turn. Watters was unsure as to whether she was still stopped or starting at the time of the impact. (Tr. P113, L24-P115, L2; P174, L13-23)

In Watters' opinion, Miss Hemingway was stopped for a very short time (Tr. P153, L10-;7), for a period of probably less than 5 seconds (Tr. P159, L24-P160, L5), and that the accident happened immediately after she (Watters) had stopped. (Tr. P155, L2-9).

Mr. Rigdon estimated Hemingway's stopped time at 5 seconds, 10 at most. (Tr. P79, L7)

It should be noted that the jury also apparently accepted Watters' version of the facts as supported by evidence from other witnesses, as it found her entirely free of negligence and fault.

The testimony of Mr. Query as read into the record was that he glanced over to say something to his companion, the companion said, "Look out," Query looked up, saw the Watters' car in the act of stopping, but not stopped, started to stop himself and ran into the rear of the Watters' car. Query estimated his

speed at maybe 5 m.p.h. less than the 40 m.p.h. he had been traveling at. On this, Query put himself too much at fault. The investigating officer, Trooper LeCours, with 12 years' experience, said that the rather modest damage to the two vehicles was such that the speed differential between Watters and Query was only 5 to 10 m.p.h. He dismissed the accident as a "fender-bender," but had seen severe injuries from such minor accidents on occasion, depending on luck. (Tr. P22, L1-27) LeCours estimated Watters' speed at the time of impact at 5 to 10 m.p.h. and Query's at 10 to 15 m.p.h., based in part on Watter's statement at the accident scene that she thought she had managed to start forward when she was hit. (Tr. P26, L2-7)

Trooper LeCours was confirmed in the 10 m.p.h. impact speed differential between Watters and Query by Watters' expert witness, David Lord. (Tr. P46, L16-P48, L13)

The immediacy of Query's approach and collision in relationship to Miss Hemingway stopping and turning was clear. As Miss Hemingway's own expert, Captain Ed Pitcher, U.H.P., agreed:

"Q. Now with that, everything happens one right after the other, doesn't it?

A. Most likely so, yes.

Q. Its all one continuous chain, isn't it; the first stop, second stop, the third car?

A. Its all interrelated, yes.

Q. Completely interrelated, isn't it?

A. Yes. " (Tr. P303, L23 -P304, L2)

The only other factual point that needs to be covered is as to the emergency causing Miss Hemingway to do what she did. She stated this as follows:

"Q. (by Mr. King) Do you recall during your deposition when I asked you why did you make this U-turn?

'Answer: I was short on time.'

Q. If it had not been for that, you would have gone and made the turn at some other place, wouldn't you?

A. I believe so.

Q. What was the hurry?

A. I guess I was a little put out that my brother asked me to take his friends home and it was late. I don't know what I had done that evening, but I feel that I was just a little short on time and patience, probably with him." (Tr. P222, L23-P223, L3)

Certain facts are in agreement, between appellant and respondent, which include the vital ones:

1. Miss Hemingway, through her attorney, stipulated that her left turn was in violation of traffic code. 46-6-63.10 UCA.
2. Miss Hemingway knew, as she drove, slowed, and, probably, stopped in lane one, that there was traffic following behind her.
3. Miss Hemingway made no effort to determine how close the traffic was.
4. Watters reacted promptly and, when Hemingway's stop became apparent, Watters started to stop.
5. Query started braking before Watters was fully stopped.
6. The impact between Query and Watters occurred immediately after Hemingway started her turn.

Facts of trial are part of the facts of the total case on review. At trial, both parties submitted their proposed instructions at the start of the trial which was on a Wednesday morning, the trial concluding the following Tuesday night. The court did not discuss these proposals, nor its proposed instructions, with counsel until near the end of the trial. It then advised counsel it did not choose to discuss the instructions with them, as the work of the case was hard enough, and it did not want to spend an additional "hour being harangued by counsel" in chambers on the law. The court also indicated that it wanted the exceptions to be taken after the jury was instructed and after the judge had left the bench.

These details are incorporated herein by reference to Annex 1, the affidavit of appellant's counsel, which the court reviewed at the NOV Motion. The trial court was not lacking in candor, and after commenting that counsel was asking the court for a stipulation which the court was not going to give, the court still agreed the facts as stated in the affidavit were substantially accurate. (Tr. P324, L30-P25, L9)

As a result of the court's approach to the instructions, appellant's requested instructions 17 and 17a which set out appellant's theory of liability on the part of Hemingway of improper lookout and obstructing highway were not submitted to the jury, although not disapproved, so that the instructions to the jury do not have a single word in them about any duty of lookout on the part of Hemingway, or any duty on her part not to

obstruct the roadway. Similarly, the instructions have three different and conflicting definitions on proximate cause, while appellant's proposal on proximate cause which was long but carefully tailored to the fact situation was not given, without being approved or disapproved, but simply ignored. Due to this, in the factual context of the trial, the jury had no law before it on which to find Miss Hemingway negligent based on lookout or traffic obstruction, nor the relationship of these acts to her being a proximate cause of the accident.

POINT I.

AS A MATTER OF LAW, RESPONDENT WAS A
PROXIMATE CAUSE OF THE ACCIDENT.

Instruction 24 (Annex 6) shows the kind of difficulty a trial court can have in applying proximate cause. It says that the jury can find Hemingway liable to Watters if the accident happened in the "sequence of events which might reasonably be expected to follow the actions of Elizabeth Hemingway"

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