1980

# Lisa Watters v. Clayton N. Querry, Jean C. Querry, Charles L. Querry, Elizabeth Hemingway, and David E. Hemingway : Respondents' Brief

Utah Supreme Court

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

## ARGUMENT

### POINT I.

#### THE ISSUE OF PROXIMATE CAUSE WAS PROPERLY SUBMITTED TO THE JURY.

Respondent Hemingway was found negligent by the jury. Yet, after viewing all of the facts, the jury found that this negligence was not a proximate cause of the accident. It is a well-established law, that has been followed in Utah, that causation is a question for the jury and not a question of law. The court has the duty to define the law, but the jury is the proper body to apply the law to the facts of the case.

Even though proximate cause may at times be a difficult question, the question should still be submitted to the jury. It is only at those times when reasonable minds could not differ, that the question can be decided as a matter of law.

It has been said to be the general rule that what is the proximate cause for an injury is ordinarily a question for the jury, the court instructing them as to what the law requires to constitute it, and the jury applying the law to the facts. It is not a question of science or of legal knowledge. It is to be determined as a fact, in view of the circumstances of fact attending it. 57 Am.Jur.2d 487.

Negligence alone is not enough to make the negligence actionable. The negligence must also be shown to be the proximate cause of the injury. Utah law has realized that a party may be negligent and yet that negligence may not be a proximate cause of the accident. In Webb v. Olin Mathieson Chemical Corp., 9 Utah 2d 275, 342 P.2d 1094 (1959), the plaintiff's rifle exploded while he was hunting. He sued the defendant for negligence in manufacturing the gun. The jury found the issues in favor of the plaintiff and the defendant appealed from that judgment. The defendant claimed that there was no evidence of its negligence and that the only reasonable deduction to be drawn from the evidence was that the accident was a result of the plaintiff's own negligence. The plaintiff had altered the gun considerably and the defendant alleged that this was the proximate cause of the accident. The defendant's expert said that the changes made by the plaintiff were probably a factor in the accident. The court said:

If it is only 'probable' the jury would not be required to find such to be the fact; nor should it be so ruled as a matter of law, because there is no basis for saying the evidence preponderated that way. 342 P.2d at 1100.

The Supreme Court held that the evidence presented a question for the jury as to whether the manufacturer was negligent, whether that negligence proximately caused the plaintiff's injuries, and whether the plaintiff was contributorily negligent.

In the present case, there is only a possibility that

the respondent Hemingway's negligence could be found to be a proximate cause of the injury. The jury is not required to find that the negligence was a proximate cause and it should not be so ruled as a matter of law.

The majority of Utah cases insist that the issue of proximate cause be submitted to the jury. In Jensen v. Dolen, 12 Utah 2d 404, 367 P.2d 191 (1962), the plaintiff and defendant were involved in an automobile accident. Plaintiff Jensen was a passenger in a car which was struck in the rear by a car operated by the defendant. The car in which the plaintiff was a passenger had stopped at a stop sign. The defendant, sliding on a patch of ice, collided with the stopped vehicle. The defendant moved for a directed verdict at the end of the evidence on the grounds that there was no showing of negligence on the part of the defendant and the ice on the highway was the sole proximate cause of the accident. In holding that jury issues were presented as to whether the defendant was negligent and as to whether the accident would have happened in the absence of the negligence, the court said:

Ordinarily, the issue of proximate cause is a matter to be submitted to the jury for its determination. \*\*\* Thus, this issue, along with the question of negligence, should have been submitted to the jury. 367 P.2d at 193.

The Utah Supreme Court reiterated their position that proximate cause was an issue to be decided by the jury in Nyman v. Cedar City, 12 Utah 2d 45, 361 P.2d 1114 (1961). The plain-

tiff was injured when the automobile in which she riding ran into obstructions on a street in Cedar City. The City was performing some construction and they had failed to put up any barricades or warning signs or lights to warn traffic of the obstructions. The court held that the evidence in this case did justify the findings that the City was negligent and that the negligence was a proximate cause of the accident. In making that decision, the court said:

When the evidence is such that there is doubt about whether one of two causes is a proximate cause of an injury so that the question could reasonably be found either one way or the other, the question is one of fact for the court or jury.  
361 P.2d at 1117.

In Hillyard v. Utah By-Products Co., 1 Utah 2d 143, 263 P.2d 287 (1953), the Utah Supreme Court once again held that questions of whether the defendant was negligent and whether that negligence was the proximate cause of the accident were for the jury. The plaintiff's son was killed when the car in which he was riding crashed into the rear of defendant's truck which was parked with its rear end protruding out on to the highway. As the car in which the plaintiff's decedent was riding approached the negligently parked truck, it attempted to pass another vehicle and when unable to do so, swung back into the right-hand lane and collided with the parked truck. The court stated that the conduct of a later intervening actor in negligently failing to observe a dangerous condition until it is too late to be avoided raises a question of fact, to be determined by the jury,

whether the later intervening acts supersedes the negligence of the initial actor:

The second situation involves conduct of a later intervening actor who negligently failed to observe the dangerous condition until it is too late to avoid it. \*\*\* With respect to the second situation, where the second actor fails to see the danger in time to avoid it, it is held that a jury question exists, based on the rationale that it can reasonably be anticipated that circumstances may arise wherein others may not observe the dangerous condition until too late to escape it. 263 P.2d at 292.

Defendant Querry failed to see the danger in time to avoid the accident. Under Utah law, this is exactly the situation that should be submitted to the jury.

In Jensen v. Mountain States Tel. & Tel. Co., et al., Utah, 16417 (April, 1980), the Utah Supreme Court once again held that the evidence was not such that it could be said that reasonable minds could not differ and hence a jury issue was presented. Mountain Bell was performing service work on underground telephone lines and parked one of its vans in the intersection. There were signs placed before the van and the van had its four-way flashers on, its headlights on, and two strobe lights flashing. The plaintiff brought this suit after he was injured in an accident with an automobile driven by defendant Gonzales who was making a left hand turn at the intersection. The trial court awarded summary judgment for defendant Mountain Bell, ruling as a matter of law that their negligence was not the



proximate cause of injuries sustained by the plaintiff. In reversing that decision, the court stated:

We recognize at the outset that in appropriate circumstances summary judgment may be granted on the issue of proximate cause. However, in a situation involving independent intervening cause, the primary issue is one of the foreseeability of the subsequent negligent conduct of a third person, and in this case, that issue must be resolved by the finder of fact.

In the previous appeal of this case, Watters v. Querry, 588 P.2d 702 (Utah, 1978), the court also found that there was a legitimate question that should be determined by the jury:

It appears to us that there is a legitimate question as to whether a jury could reasonably find that defendant Hemingway, in making the alleged abrupt stop, should have foreseen that, in traffic such as there was on that highway, some momentarily inattentive driver following her would not be able to react and brake quick enough to avoid collision with her car or the car behind hers. 588 P.2d at 704.

The Supreme Court vacated the judgment and remanded the case for a new trial. The decision did not, as a matter of law, decide that defendant Hemingway's negligence was the proximate cause of the accident. If the situation presented an obvious question of law, the Supreme Court would have decided the matter on the prior appeal. Instead it decided that the issues presented did raise a question for the jury and remanded the case for a new trial.

Once the jury has looked at the facts, weighed them, and made their decision, the Supreme Court should not decide the

question as a matter of law. In Swartley v. Seattle School Dist. No. 1, 421 P.2d 1009 (Wash. 1966), a junior high student died of strangulation when some plywood fell on to him while he was in a room which he had no permission to enter. In holding that the evidence, as to whether the rule requiring permission was a safety rule, created a jury question, the court said:

In the light of all the facts and circumstances, whether this was a safe manner of storage of plywood and whether the deceased was guilty of contributory negligence, became questions of fact for the jury. Thus, the court could not rule on it as a matter of law. 421 P.2d at 1012.

The court also maintained that:

The negligence of appellant and the contributory negligence of the deceased was the primary questions for the jury; they were questions of fact. Their final resolution by the verdict of the jury placed them beyond the province of this court to determine otherwise. 421 P.2d at 1013-1014.

In the present case, the issues of fact have been properly resolved by the jury and should not be disturbed by this court.

In Wash-A-Matic, Inc. v. Rupp, 532 P.2d 682 (Utah, 1975), the plaintiff claimed that there had been a lease contract formed and the defendant subsequently would not accept the supplies. Plaintiff claimed that this was a breach of the contract and that the defendant was liable for damages. The trial judge found that there was no binding contract between the plaintiff and defendant and that the plaintiff was not entitled



to any damages. In holding that the evidence was insufficient to establish a contract between the plaintiff and defendant, the Supreme Court said:

The evidence was sufficient to sustain the judgment made, and we should sustain the trial court even if we might have come to a different decision had we been trying the matter. 582 P.2d at 683.

The Supreme Court of Utah again reiterated their stand on appellate review in Fisher v. Taylor, 572 P.2d 393 (Utah, 1977). The plaintiffs brought the action for breach of a written contract for purchase of a clothing business. The purchase agreement provided for a down payment and equal monthly installments. The defendants took possession but subsequently failed to make the equal monthly payments. The plaintiff was to pay all taxes prior to the transfer of the corporate stock but failed to make these payments. The trial court rendered a judgment for the unpaid balance of the purchase price and defendants filed this appeal. The Supreme Court held that the performance by defendants was not excused because plaintiff was disabled from performance by her own inaction of not paying the taxes. The court, in discussing their duty of review, stated:

This Court has consistently followed the well-recognized standard of appellate review which precludes the substitution of our judgment for that of the trial court on issues of fact, and where its findings and judgment are based on substantial, competent, admissible evidence we will not disturb them. 572 P.2d at 394.

The jury is the correct party to make the conclusions of fact after hearing the evidence. The Supreme Court should not disturb the findings unless clearly against the weight of evidence. In this case, two different juries have made the same finding, indicating that that finding is supported by the evidence.

Jury Instruction No. 24, given by the court, was the instruction approved by the Supreme Court in the prior appeal of this case. The court said that the difficulty with the previous instruction given was that it seemed to exculpate defendant Hemingway if it was found that defendant Query was negligent, whether or not the latter's conduct was foreseeable. Jury Instruction No. 24 (Annex 9) corrects this defect by stating that if the actions of Elizabeth Hemingway were found wrongful and the collision of defendant Query's car with that of appellant Watters was "within the natural and continuous sequence of events which might reasonably be expected to follow the actions of defendant Hemingway," then defendant Hemingway could be found a proximate cause of the injury. Appellant now claims that this instruction was too difficult to be submitted to a jury, yet the instruction is consistent with the law and had been approved for the jury in the previous appeal for this particular accident.

Proximate cause is a jury issue and should only be decided as a matter of law when reasonable people could not differ. As shown by Utah precedent, proximate cause is almost always a jury question. The Supreme Court should not disturb

this finding after it was properly decided by the jury.

POINT II.

THE NEGLIGENT ACT OF THE LATER ACTOR,  
DEFENDANT QUERRY, WAS THE SOLE PROXIMATE  
CAUSE OF THE ACCIDENT.

An actor may possibly be negligent and create a potentially dangerous situation, yet the actor is not liable for every result which occurs because of his negligence. The initial actor is not the proximate cause of an accident if they have created a situation which is harmless unless acted upon by a force for which they are not responsible. A later actor's conduct can be found to be a subsequent intervening act when their conduct makes a harmless situation injurious. In the present case, respondent Hemingway's conduct did not proximately contribute to the injury. Respondent Hemingway had completed her maneuver and appellant Watters had stopped. Without defendant Querry's subsequent intervening negligence, his inattentiveness and improper lookout, no injury would have resulted.

In Anderson v. Parson Red-E-Mix Paving Co., 24 Utah 2d 128, 467 P.2d 45 (1970), the defendant had negligently parked his truck on the highway. The plaintiff was injured when the car in which he was riding, due to negligence on the part of the driver, collided with the parked truck. While observing that the cement truck created a dangerous condition, the Utah Supreme Court pointed out that the accident occurred in broad daylight on a clear day where there was nothing to obstruct the vision or

distract the attention of the plaintiff's driver before colliding with the truck. The court then stated:

Where one has negligently created a dangerous condition. . . if the previously created dangerous condition is such that the later actor, in the exercise of reasonable care, should have observed and avoided it, in which instant the later act of negligence is an independent intervening and therefore sole proximate cause. 467 P.2d at 46.

The Supreme Court held that the negligence of the driver was the sole proximate cause of the collision and the plaintiff was precluded from recovering from the owner of the truck.

In McMurdie v. Underwood, 9 Utah 2d 400, 346 P.2d 711 (1959), three large trailer-trucks had stopped along the highway. Unit No. 1 had developed difficulties and had stopped to make repairs. Unit No. 2, driven by respondent, stopped in front of Unit No. 1 and the driver returned to give assistance. Unit No. 3, driven by another defendant, parked on the pavement with all of its lights on. The appellant approached the situation, and observing Unit No. 2 blocking the road, stopped and waited for the oncoming traffic to clear. While parked in this position, appellant noticed a speeding truck approaching in his rearview mirror. The truck collided with the appellant's car. The driver of the pickup truck was found negligent as a matter of law and settled prior to trial. The trial court returned a judgment in favor of the other defendants and the plaintiffs appealed. The plaintiff argued that there was error in the instructions given to the jury. The jury instruction was as follows:

You are instructed that the driver of the pickup truck was negligent as a matter of law, and if you find that she observed the hazards if any of the stopped vehicles upon the highway or under the circumstances should have observed said vehicles, but because of her negligence failed to do so in time to avoid said accident, then you are instructed that the negligence on her part was the sole proximate cause of the collision, and your verdict must be in favor of the defendants and against the plaintiffs, no cause of action. 346 P.2d at 712.

The court maintained that the issue had been rightfully submitted to the jury and that the pickup driver's negligence was the sole proximate cause of the collision.

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